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H1story of Eng1neer1ng Oollege 

So1ent1f10 1nstruot1on was 1n 1ts 1nfancy 1n the Un1ted 

States at the beg1nn1ng ot the n1neteenth oentury, and was ava1lable 

1n only a fewcAmer1can colleges. Courses 1n astronomy, botany, 

phys10s J and chem1stry had been taught 1 n a few 1nst1tut1ons; a 

department ot mathemat1cs and natural philosophy had been oreated 

1n Harvard College 1n 1727; a professorship of botany 1n Columb1a 

College 1n 1792; and a class 1n ohemistry at Pr1nceton 1n 1795. 

Phys10s and ohem1stry had been taught at the Un1vers1ty of Pennsylvan1a 

and Dartmouth College; phys10s was taught 1n Un10n College. The 

usual method of 1nstruotion Was by leotures, supplemented oooas10nally 

by exper1ments wh10h the teaohers performed. Rioketts, p.l 

Dur1ng the 0010n1al per10d 1n Amer1oa, 1ndustr1al pr~duo­

t10n was almost Wholly conf1ned to agr1culture. Atter the Revolu­

t10nary War, the neoess1ty for home 1ndustry became apparent and 

the beg1nn1ng ot Amer10an eng1neer1ng and meohan1oal invent1veness 

were fostered. In 1790 Samuel Slater, a sk1lled Eng11sh worker, 

estab11shed at Pawtuoket the f1rst suooessful mill dr1ven by water 

power; in 1793 E11 Whitney 1nvented the ootton g1n which determ1ned 

the industr1al future of the South; 011ver Evans made the first 

machinery for flour m1lls in l7g7, and 1n 19O1 completed the first 

high pressure steam engine. Philadelph1a equ1pped 1ts waterworks 

w1th a double steam pump 1n 19O1, built by N1cholas I. Rooseveldt. 

S1x years later Robert Fulton made h1s oelebrated trip up the 

-'-1 



The oollegiate plan of organization and most of the traditions of the 

professoriate can be traced back to classical colleges and the 

older universities of England; the interrogatory rather than expository 

form of teaching has its origin in the English grammar schools; 

the aarly engineering currioula were patterned after the French 

models, and the professional status of engineering schools is 

French, rather than similar to the British pupigate system; the 

early models of teaching manual arts were Russian; from Germany 

came the emphasis upon research and modern research methods. Out 

of American inventiveness developed the introduction of individual 

methods of laboratory instruction, unequalled anywhere in the world, 

and the provision of distinctive training in the economic and 

management phases of engineering. In no other country have engineer­

ing schools received so little outside domination as in America. 

The technical schools here have developed according to the ideas of 

the educators directly in charge of them; little is owed to state­

craft except the means of extension and support; little to the 

organized engineering profession except occasional criticism of 

ways and methods of instruction; little to industries except needs 

for different training, employment for graduates, and gifts of 

equipment. SPEE, g22- 3 

Had there been provision made in the ·Catholepistemiad 

(or University of) Michigania l 'of Ig17 for a courae in engineering, 

the University of Michigan might have been the first to establish 

an engineering course in the United States. To consider the 



descrlptlve geometry, wlth lts appllcatlon to shades, shadows, per­

spectlve and stone cuttlng, together with lsometr1cal and spherlcal 

project1ons; drawing, ln plan and elevatlon; topographlcal drawlng; 

tlntlng ln colors; Phys1cs, lncludlng mechanlcs, acoustlcs, opt1cs, 

heat, electrlclty and magnetlsm; Natural Sclence, lncludlng chemlstry, 

mlneralogy, geology, and meteorology; Astronomy; Language, lncludlng 

Engllsh language and 11terature, elther French language and 11terature 

or German language and 11terature, and rhetorlc; Philosophy, lncludlng 

10glC, mental and moral sclence; Englneerlng, lncludlng plane, 

geodeslc, rallroad, and mlnlng surveylng, levellng, nature and 

strength of materlals, theory of constructlons, architecture, 

machlnes (partlcularly the Steam Englne and Locomotlve), motors 'Catalog 
Ig55-56

(partlcularly Steam and Water).- .~4 & ff 

Thus, from the very beglnnlng, the degree ln englneerlng 

at Michigan, flrst oonferred ln Ig60 on Frank L. Krause and Wllllam 

Mlnto, has been based upon a oomplete four years of college work. 

As early as IgSg the Un1verslty had an opportunlty of becomlng the 

flrst school to requlre a course of tlve years for englneerlng 

graduates. At a meetlng ot the Board ot Regents held that year, 

Professor DeVolson Wood summarlzed the problem of gettlng the 

neoessary englneerlng tralnlng as well as the classlcal requlre­

ments felt to be essentlal, lnto four years; he asked the Academldal 

Faculty to report thelr vlews on thls matter. -Should the entlre 

englneering course be included, in point of time, within the 

present undergraduate course of four years, or should a flfth be 



added to complete the course?· This query, first formulated by a 

University of Mio~~gan engineer in 1959, has not yet been answered 

in the affirmative; It Was not settled at that time, but the prob­

lem was raised many times thereafter, and the five-year oourse 

advocated and recommended, by Mortimer E. Cooley, Dean of the 

College from 190~ to 1929. 

Another point of originality about the engineering oourse 

at the University 1s that it was the first in the country whioh 

was strictly a public institution; whioh was not the product of 

priv~e beneficence, and which was reoogn1zed from the first on a 

foot1ng of entire equality with the classical department of the 

University. It was started in such a manner that by mere expansion 

and growth, w1 thout radical change of any kind, it could and did 

expand into an engineering school of the first class. 

The first member of the faculty to teach a class in 

engineering was Alexander Winchell (B.A., Wesleyan, 1947; and Hon. 

LL.D., Wesleyan, 19§7) son of Horace Winohell, who was apPOinted 

Professor of Physics and Civil Engineering in 1953; in 1955 he was 

made Professor of Geology, Zoology, and Botany. During 1954 and 

part of 1955 he lectured in civil ~ngineering. Professor Winchell 

died in 1990, hav1ng taught at the University for th1rty-three years. 

He was away trom the campus for four years, dur1ng his inoumbenoy 

of the Presidenoy of Syracuse University and while he held a 

professorship in Vanderbilt Un1versity. Winchell was a man of 

large and varied learning, not only in the sciences whioh he taught, 
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but also in mathematics, physics, astronomy, ethnology, snguage, 

and philosophy. His work was widely known both in this oountry 

and in Europe, and h1s was a distinguished name to stand as Blog.. data 
Hinsdale; 

the first professor in the engineering department at Miohigan. 

When Winchell was app01nted to teach physios and 

c1v1l engineering, he wrote in his d1ary Deo. 1, lSS;, Mas 

Winchell 
to civil eng1neer1ng, I shall have l1ttle to do with it at Papers I 

Vol.ZS 

present as the study has not yet been in1t1ated." In February 

of 19S4 he gave his first leoture on 01v1l eng1neering; it lasted 

one1half-hour. By March he had started instruction 1n surveying 

and Parker's Aids; The first surveying instruments were bought 

that year, a Theodo11te for $2gS and a Level tor $1;0, among 

other things. After this the class spent some t1me nearly 

every day outdoors with the 1nstruments. Winchell reported that 

W1nchellthe stUdents enjoyed this work nearly as much as he d1d. By Papers
Vol.7S 

lSS5 he was oons1dering elaborating his lectures 1nto a book on 

oivil engineering, feeling that a text was much needed as none was 

ava1lable wh1ch met the reqUirements here. Winchell undertook 
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to make a ra1lroad survey ln lS55, for wh10h he was paid $5 a day. 

Thus the f1rst professor of o1vil eng1neer1ng was also engaged 

ln a oOLlateral praotlce, a pollcy whloh has oont1nued to this day. 

Among the papers Wh10h W1nohell prepared relatlng 

to eng1neerlng were Clvll Englneerlng; Wood as a Bulldlng 

Mater1al; On Rallroad Curves; To Flnd the Length of a Degree of 

Longltude 1n Any Lat1tude; Determlnatlon of Magnetio Mer1dian; On 

Dlals and Dlallng; Investlgat1ons, Formulae, Problems and Solu­

tlons ln Meohan1cs. 

Wlnchell was succeeded ln lS55 by Willlam Guy Peck 

(Brevet 2nd Lt. of Topographical Englneers, U.S.M.A., lS44), son 

of Alfred and Susan Baldwin Peck, who held the professorship of 

Physlcs and Civll Englneerlng, Peck stayed only two years, 

reslgnlng ln ls57 to go to Columbla where he was a professor of 

mathematlcs and astronomy. He was the author of many works in 

mathemat1cs and astronomy, and dled ln New York Clty ln 1992, {' . '* • 

aged 71. M.E.Cooley flle 
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Instruction in survey1ng and civil engineering leo­

tures were continued under Protessor Peck, who also acquired 

additional instruments, apparatus, and books, tor the department 

Regents 
of physics and civil engineering. 

The real tounder ot the engineering department was the 

next member or its taculty, De Volson Wood, who was made Assistant 

Professor ot Civil Engineering in lS57, Professor ot Physics and 

Civil Engineer1ng in 1959 when he took his Master's degree here, 

and Professor of Civil Engineering in 1960. It is an interesting 

circumstance which in large measure determined the future of the 

Engineering College that its tirst permanent and continuous protessor­

ship was tilled by an engineering graduate ot Rensselaer, and shortly 

atter President Tappan began his remarkable educational work here. 

Tappan was a man of broad and liberal views concerning educational 

aftairs, and was one of the first to introduce in this country 

the Prussian ideas of the functions and administration of a 

University. While the University, when he came to it, was an 



old-fashioned traditional college, Tappan believed an educational 

system of public 1nstruction throughout the state, in which he 

so ardently believed, could be" developed in Mich1gan, and hence 

he took an appOintment to the Presiden cry here which otherwise 

would be d1fficult to understand in view of h1s standing, and 

the poor showing that Michigan had made so far. Tappan was one 

of the first educators to recognize the value of technolog1cal 

studies; and 1t was under his leadersh1p that there was estab­

I1shed as early as lS55-56 the four-year course in engineer1ng 

at M1ch1gan. 

DeVolson Wood was the son of Julius and Amanda 

(Billings) Wood, and was born June 1, lS32, on a farm near Smyrna, 

Wood bioE 
New York, He was a teacher from the age of 17 until his death 	 iiiitirial 

From 
M.E.CoolE 

at 65 1n lS97, teaching wh11e he attended Albany Normal School 	 file; 
magazine
sketches; 

(gr~duated (1853), and Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute (0. E., 	 obi tuarit 
and orig­
inal 

1855). After he had completed his district school work, his 	 reminisci 
ces by b; 
daughter.

father released him from farm work and he taught the district 
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school, giving his father the money to pay tor a hired man in 

his place. The next summer he walked across the state ot New 

York to enter the Albany Normal, working on the way tor his meals 

and bed. His extra clothing was a pair of Jeans and two night 

shirts. He finished the course in one year. The next session 

he taught at the Normal School and took the train each afternoon 

to attend Rensselaer. In August of lS57 he started tor Chicago 

where he had heard there was a teaching vacancy. He reached 

Detroit with no money to go further, and, leaving his baggage, 

walked to Ann Arbor. He thought if he only had ten cents, he 

would write his mother to tell her he was all right. In going 

up the steps to one of the campus buildings he found a dime. 

On later occasions in Ann Arbor, when he sought much needed 

funds tor additional space and eqUipment tor his engineers, Wood 

was not always so fortunate. 

He introduced himself to President Tappan. Professor 

~eck had not returned, and Wood was asked to substitute tor a 



few days. He went out and found a boarding house, promising to 

pay as soon as he was paid. Since Peck did not return Wood 

was appointed Assistant Professor of Civil Engineering, and 

thus the first professor with a thorough training in engineer­

ing and in the teaching of engineering became a member of the 

faculty. 

Even as a school boy, Wood had given evidence of his 

originality and scholarship. While he was in the Albany 

Normal School he developed and made practical a system of 

n.b. Please alligation taught in every sdhool, although the author is 
·do not 
·change the 
spelling of known but to few. When he was 24, he had calculated and 
alligation 

published material relating to an eclipse of the sun, 

telling weeks beforehand Just when 1t would start and end. 

This calculation was used in a contemporary almanac. He had, 

throughout his 11fe, an eager enthusiasm for and knowledge of 

astronomy. 
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DeVolson Wood was one of the best known professors in 

the United States. Beyond that reputation lay extraordinary 

ability as a mathematioian and as an analyst, remarkable 

strength and simplioity of oharaoter, and a genius for teaohing 

whioh made his reputation a good deal more than temporary or 

looal. His powers as a mathematioian have given him a perma­

nent plaoe in the literature ot engineering, and no student ot 

the higher mathematics of engineering oan remain ignorant of 

the name of DeVolson Wood. 

His real greatness was as a teacher. Perhaps that is 

misfortune; a teacher leaves no monument except in the hearts 

and in the minds of the men who actually come under his personal 

influence. 

The peculiar merit of his teaching lay in his capacity 

to make men think for themselves, laboriously and enthusiastic­

ally. He was a man of untiring industry, full of suggestions and 

inquiries, animated always by a robust and transparent love of 
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truthj only the dullest students could fail to make creditable 

progress under his guidance. This genious for industry and 

this capacity for self-help are among the elements of character 

he succeeded in planting firmly in the long list of engineers 

who had the good fortune to come under his instruction both 

here and at Stevens Institute. 

Sometimes, in educational eircles, the accusationis made 

that engineering students do not receive much "cultural" back­

ground. Hotchkiss, of Rensselaer, once wrote: "Culture comes 

from many sources. It comes vastly more from the teacher than tt 

does from what he teaches. I believe it is perfectly possible to 

take a course in Latin from a teacher who is possessed of little 

or no culture and go out of that course with no culture. I 

believe it is possible for a man to take a course in calculus under 

an inspiring, cultured teacher, and to go out of that course in 

of teacher. 
calculus with a rare wealth of culture." Wood was the latter kind/ 

In fact, the early days of engineering at Michigan, before the 

day of specialization, were remarkable because of the breadth 

of education and vision on the part ot its small faculty. 



In appearance, Wood was a striking figure. His solid and 

robust frame, his keen eye and square Jaw, his frank and ready 

smile, his quick laughter - all these were part of his influence 

on young men. The youth who came in contact with him could not 

help feeling that he stood before a real man. He had a gift of 

personal interest in his students. It w~s not that he took any 

special trouble with anyone man; but he was always able to carry 

a manls personality in his own mind, and he seemed always to be 

interested in knowing something about a man's career. And so 

it came about that his influence on the lives of his students did 

not cease when they left his classroom. In lS72 he reported on 

the graduates under him, saying "Of these, there are at present 

62 civil engineers, 11 professor or teachers, 2 in business, 2 

farmers, 1 editor, 1 assistant in an observatory, 1 director of 

the Cincinnati observatory, 1 whose business is unknown; one 

was killed at the Battle of Shiloh.1I 
·Regents
:lg72 

When Wood came to Michigan, he prepared a syllabus of a(14-9-152) 

proposed course ~.n engineering, and the next year the Regents 

adopted the following resolutions: 

http:Shiloh.1I


Regents
l85S (S96) 

Resolved, 1st that an Engineering Course be added to 
the present curriculum of the University 

Resolved, 2nd, that the degree of Civil Engineer be 
conferred upon those who may pursue the engineering 
course and pass an approved examination. 

Resolved, 3rd, that •••Professor Woodis syllabus of that 
course be referred to the Academical Faculty. 

Under the course as it developed, instruction was begun 

in the sophomore class of the Scientific Section, when Land 

Surveying was started at the beginning of the year and con­

tinued for nine weeks. The classroom exercises consisted of 

recitations from Gille apie' s Land Surveying, and lectures. 

The field exercises were not planned to make expert surveyors, 

but to teach the principles involved in surveying. Each 

student WaS required to do every part of the work for himself; 

he used the axe, ohains, oarried the flag, used the compass, 

the transit, and the theodolite, and oomputed his work from 

his field notes and made a plat of it. Neatness and accuPacy 

in the reports were insisted upon. In 1872, a young lady took 

this course; "she was relieved from what might otherwise have 

been an embarrassment in the field work by the attendanoe of 

her brother who was in the same class. H This young lady was 

Laura Rogers White, B.S., '74. 



After Land Surveying, the class took up geometrical drawing, 

tinting and shading. The textbooks were by Warren, Drafting 

Instruments and Plane Projection Drawing. The students 

worked two hours a day on this subject in the drawing room 

under the supervision of an instructor. Besides the time 

spent in drawing, students were required to learn the theory, 

and to attend occasional recitations and reviews on the subject. 

This course extended over the second half of the first semester. 

Instruction in Descriptive Geometry was given the sophomore 

Scientific and Latin Scientific sections during the last half 

of the second semester. 

Juniors in these sections took Shades and Shadows (Warren's) 

during the first semester. The recitation occuped one hour a 

week, the drawing exercises two hours each day for four days 

a week. Most of the drawing was done in the drawing room, 

though some was permitted in the students' rooms. In addition 

to the textbook figures, students constructed the perspective of 

objects from measurement. No one was allowed to pass Rho could 

correctly 

not constnuct his thesis/and tint and shade it neatly. 




Durlng the second semester, junlors took Land Survey lng, 

simllar to but more complex than that glven the sophomore 

class. Senlor and junlor classes ln englneerlng lectures 

were glven. The lectures extended over a portlon of two years, 

alternatlng on successlve years. The subjects covered the 

prlnclples of steam englnes of varlous klnds, princlples of 

deslgnlng machlnery, pattern maklng, mouldlng, and shop work. 

Part of thls two-year lecture course conslsted of exerclses ln 

machlne drawlng; Wood developed a novel method of lnstructlon 

ln thls. He asslgned a problem unfamlllar to the students, 

asked them to solve lt, and to make a worklng drawlng to 

represent their ldea, ~ccompanied by a speclflcatlon and report.r, 

Solutlons were revlewed and crltlclzed before the class. As 

an example: Wood descrlbed the constructlon and operatlon of 

an ordlnary D valve, showlng partlcularly that ln order to open 

a port so as to reverse the stroke of a plston, the valve, up 

to the polnt of openlng the port, ls movlng ln the opposlte 

dlrectlon from the plston. The class was asked to lnvent such 

an arrangement of parts that the valve would open the port 

correctly if lt moved the same way as the plston. From thls 
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all the working parts of the steam engine were considered. 

The problems were simple, and were intended as a means of 

instruction, not as puzzles. In order to solve them,however, 

the students not only became familiar with what existed b~t 

also learned other possible ways of accomplishing the same 

end, and in connection with the criticisms learned why a 

particular combination was used. This class also read part 

of Warren's Machine Construction Drawing. After Class Day, 

the Juniors took up railroad surveying. 

The senior class in civil engineering began the theory 

and practice of the construction of roads and railroads, using 

Henck's Field Book forEngineers and Gillespie's Roads and 

Railroads. A course of lectures was given upon the con­

struction of engineering instruments, modes of adjusting them 

and on various subjects having to do with railroads and roads. 

As early as le60 ,he need tor a course in road construction 

had been felt, and the Regents approved a study leading to 

answers for the following questions. 



1. 	At what season of the year can our earthen roads be worked 
most advantageously? 

2. 	Ought the same degree of dryness of the earth be required 
to work the roads as the farmer desires to make his fields 
mellow and pilourent? 

3. 	When are covered or tiled drains preferable to open drains? 

4. 	Would one tiled drain along the axis or center of a road 
ever pe preferable to two parallel ones on the outside? 

5. 	When can the scraper be used economically in grading a road? 

6. When the wheelbarrow? 

7- When the cart? 

8. 	 In grading a hill, 1~ it more econom~cal to cut at once to 
the depth required and to fill at once to the heights or 
to do so by partial cuttings and fillings? 

These questions were introduced with the statement that the 

subject of making earthen or common roads had received but 

little attention from the scientific world, and that the Un1ver­

s1ty 1s Scientific Department might attempt to consider the problem. 

Thus was the beginning laid for the Department of Engineering 

Research, established in 1920, siXty years after the first 

problem had been put to the staff and students of the College of 

Engineering for research on a matter of value to the State at large. 

In the course on roads and railroads, the students were not 

only required to use the instruments in the field, but to adjust 

them. They did all the preliminary work of laying out a railroad 



beginning with a reconnaissance, surveying the line, locating 

it, then re-surveying it. They took the levels, established 

a grade, set the side stakes, computed cuts and fills, made 

a finished map of the line including the profile. 

Following roads and railroads was a course upon the re­

sistance of materials~ in which Wood used his own work as 

a textbook; and a course of lectures on the theory of bridge 

construction, the theory of hydraulic motors, the theory of the 

distribution of the water in cities, and other problems. 

Special attention was given to bridge construction. 

Wood felt that the lecture system was a comparatively Blow 

one and should be resorted to only when satisfactory textbooks 

were not available. He preferred the textbook method, with 

questions, criticisms and expansion of the contents. Because 

much of the information for the courses was scattered throughout 

many books, he was obliged to lecture in a systematic way and 

to assign outside reading. Books on engineering were housed 

in the library of the University, and much reading was done 

there. The ensineering books were not collected in a separate 

library until the oompletion of the West Engineering Building 



1n 1904. 

M1l1tary eng1neer1ng and taot1os were prov1ded for 1n lS6l, 

but because of the C1vil War no ava1lable professor was found; 

Wood leotured on these subjects also. 

In lS72 Wood gave a oourse of 30 leotures to one student 

1n m1n1ng eng1neer1ng; th1s course perta1ned to the eng1neer1ng 

operations necessary 1n the process of m1n1ng. 

Eng1neer1ng classes 1n these days ocoup1ed three or four 

rooms 1n the South W1ng of Un1vers1ty Hall, rooms used for 

student dorm1tor1es in the early days (South College, bu1lt 1n 

lS49). They were heated by wood stoves stoked by the professor 

or an ob11g1ng student from 1mmense wo04boxes, da1ly f1lled 

by 'J1mm1e' Otley - who was later promoted to an eas1er berth 

1n the cloak-room of the L1brary. The water needed for the 

drawing room was supp11ed from a battered z1nc pa1l, ref1lled 

from t1me to t1me as use demanded. It was a restr1cted env1ron­

ment , but a great deal of excellent work was done there, although 

under very disadvantageous cond1t1ons and heav1ly discounted 
,-' 

Dem1son by the laok of accommodat1ons. 
1902 (~echn1c) 



Most of the teaching during the sixties w~s done by 

Wood alone, although at various times he had assistants 

and instructors to lessen the burden of his heavy schedule. 

Cleveland Abbe (A.B.) who later became a distinguished meteorolo­

gist, was an instructor in physics and civil engineering in 

1959-60j Elmore Horton Wells (B.S,C.E.) was an instructor 

in engineering in lS64; Wm. Butler Morgan (C.E •• A.M.) was 

an instructor in math and civil engineering in lS56-66. 

Assistants had been G. Y. Wisner in 1965, Stillman Williams 

Robinson (lS66-67) who became an assistant professor of 

m1ning engineering and geodesy 1n lS67, and J. BUrkitt Webb 

(lS7l). In le72 Joseph Baker Davis (C.E., le6S) was apPOinted 

Assistant Professor of Civ1l Engineer1ng, and, after Wood, 

was the second professor to be appointed to the eng1neer1ng 

faculty who stayed for any length of time. 

DeVolson Wood, the founder of the engineering department, 

was a true prophet. Not only could he calculate an eclipse of 

the sun when he was 24, but he was early conv1nced that the day 

was not far distant when we would see three things: a canal 

across the Isthmus of Panama, a horseless carriage, and flying 



in the air. He experimented a good deal in attempting to 

develop flying, and in 1893 read a paper on balloons at 

the World's Fair in Chicago. But the broad vision he held in 

so many things was especially important to the future of the 

his 
engineering colle ge. In/1871 report on the colle ge, Wood 

summarized the engineerinf; work and faci11ties thereof at 

Lehigh, Stevens, Illinois Industrial ~niversity, Yale, and 

Harvard, and first raised the question concerning the establis~ent 

of the engineering college as a separate unit from the literary 

college. Although this separation did not take place for nearly 

twenty-five years, its foundation was laid when DeVolson Wood wrote: 

Regents - 1870-31. 
~~hink we ought to seek for the establishment of a fourth 
department in the University, to be called the School of 
Technology, or Industrial School, or School of Arts and 
Trades, or some other suitable name, within which we should 
organize advanced courses in General Science, courses in 
Technical Chemistry, Courses in Engineering and Architecture. 
To accomplish this requires more means than the University
has at its command, and hence an appeal should be made to 
the citizens of the State to endow such a school, or endow 
professorships, or erect a. building, or to furnish apparatus;
and if this does not::s ucceed, an appeal should be made to the 

. State for the same object, trusting that from one or both 
sources the necessary means might be secured to enable the 
University to develop such a department as to do credit to 
itself and meet ~he demands of the times. 

Ot Wood oertainly 1t could be sa1d by his successors, as Dr. 

Angell aaid of Dr. Tappan in 1887, "Not even yet have we 

filled in the sketch which he drew of the ideal University for 

. , 



In conneation with his ideas about the establishment of a 

a fourth department or oollege of engineering 1 stating how muoh 

money the establishment of a separate "Department" (i.e. 1 College 

of Engineering) would require, Wood was asked to prepare a 

"memorial" oonoerning the funds required. He estimated a need 

of an endowment of $241,000 for a sohool of engineering, to 

provide for a new building, an apparatus fund, a library fund, 

equipment for shops, and professorships in oivil, meohanioal, 

and mining engineering, freehand drawing, geodesy and field 

operations. He estimated that if a oomplete teohnioal sohool 

were to be developed, an additional endowment of $132,500 would 

be required, providing for professorships in metallurgy and 

assaying, arohiteoture, ohemistry, experimental physios, geology, 

zoology, taxidermy, modeling in plaster, olay, and waxite, and 

for mOdels in arohiteoture. The President, in his lS72 report 

asked for an endowment of from $373,500 to $500,000 tor the 

purpose of a soientifio sohool at Michigan whioh would embrace 

all the departments Wood had suggested. Unfortunately, no 

publio-sp1rited Miohigan oitizen or oitizens stepped forward 

to make this a possibility, as had been the case at Yal" 



Harvard, and Stevens, among others; the separation did not take 

place until 1995, and then only the engineering courses were 

included in the new college. 

In 1940 a means through which DeVolson'Woodts dream of an 

endowed school providing multiply facilities for work and 

research was established. The officers of the University, 

after giving much thought to the problem created by the 

increasing inability of the State to provide moneyto keep 

the College of Engineering at its present status as one of 

the great engineering schools, reached the conclusion that 

state funds must be supplemented by ample funds from other 

sources. The Board of Regents therefore approved the creation 

of the Mortimer E. Cooley Foundation. Its objectives are to 

supplement the regular funds as required to insure the maintenance 

of a strong and adequate faculty for undergraduate teaching; 

m furnish facilities and laboratory equipment; to encourage 

and foster graduate work by providing funds which will secure 

and retain teachers of outstanding ability and provid them with 

physical equipment second to none; to encourage fundamental 



research ln pure and applled sclence by all faculty members; 

and to encourage makln§ speolal grants to the College of 

Englneerlng for the estab~lshment and support of 11brarles, 

laboratorles, museums, and other lnstruments of teachlng, 

and for the creatlon of scholarshlps and fellowshlps for 

advanced graduate work and research. The general plan ls 

to oreate a Board composed of alumnl and faculty members to 

seoure endowments and to admlnlster the funds acqulred. 

When Wood reslgned ln lS72 to go to the Stevens Instltute 

of Technology, where he taught untll hls death, ln lS97, re­

turned hlm to Ann Arbor for burlal, he left only one englneer 

who was already famlllar wlth work at Mlchlgan. Thls was 

Joseph Baker Davls, an alumnus of the englneerlng department 

ln lS6S, Asslstant Professor of Clvll Englneering from lS72 

until lS9l, when he became Professor of Geodesy and Surveying, 

a chair which he held untl1 his retlrement 1n 1910. In 1904 

he became the f1rst Assoc1ate Dean of the College of Englneer1ng. 

UP?n Wood's res1gnat10n, Charles Ezra Greene (B.A., Harvard, 

lS62; B.S. 1n C.E., M.I.T., lS6S; Hon C.E., Mlchlgan, lSS4) was 

appo1nted Professor of Clv1l Eng1neer1ng 1n 1972, and 1n 1995 



became the first Dean of the Engineering College. Charles 

Simeon Denison (B.S. Vermont, 1870); C.E. Vermont, 1871j 

M.S., Vermont, lS74) was also apPointed to the faculty of 

the engineering department in the first of his several capacities 

during his forty-two years as one of the most beloved teachers 

at Michigan. He was Instructor in Engineering & Drawing, 1872-767 

Instructor in Engineering and Drawing and Assistant in Archi­

tecture, lS76-1SS1; Acting Assistant Professor of Mechanical 

and Free Hand Drawing, 1181-82; Assistant Professor of Mechanical 

and Free Hand Drawing, 1882-85; Professor of Descriptive Geometry, 

Stereotomy, and Drawing, from 1995 until his death in 1913­

Thus, upon WOOdiS departure, engineering instruction 

was left in the hands of the triumvirate which guided its 

destiny for well over thirty years: Greene, Davis, and 

Denison, three names which loom exceedingly large in any con­

sideration of the College of Engineering. Greene became the 

first Dean of the College (1895), DaviS the first Associate Dean 

(1904), and Denison one of the most beloved professors ever to 

teach at Michigan. Denisonls name is commemorated by the Denison 
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Arch of the West Engineering Building, in which tablets to his 

memory, and to that of Wood, Greene, and Davis, have been 

established by engineers in whose hearts and memory no bronze 

memorials were ever neces:::ary. 

Denison became a member of the faculty at the request of 

his friend, President Angell, who had come here the year before 

from V~rmont, Denison's alma mater. Denison remained a member 

of the engineering faculty through more than ten generations 

of students - a total of 42 years. Probably no teacher in 

the history of the University was more beloved personally than 

Denison. A bachelor, the students were his whole life; even 

his profound knowledge of and interest in all things artistic 

was secondary to his affection for the engineering undergraduates, 

who early gave him the endearing name of Little Lord Chesterfield. 

He was, in a real sense the founder of the present-day 

Department of Mechanism and Engineering Drawing, the career of 

which his own so closely parallels. But no story of the Engineering 

College could be told without the mention of the influence of his 



sprightliness and wittiness, his unselfishness and sympathy, 

his Justice and charm. He was the one about whom alumni 

always asked; when anyone from the University appeared, they 

would be greeted wit~, "Tell us of Little Lord Chesterfield." 

Denison, in his quiet, unobtrusive way stamped his character 

on everyone who came under his influence while in the Universtty. 

Of him it could be truthfully said, "His life work was helping 

to build men.­

Charles Ezra Greene, the first Dean of the College of 

Engineering (lg95-l903) was the son of Rev. James Diman and 

Sarah Adeline (Durell) Greene. He was born at Cambridge, Mass., 

February 12, 1842. After fitting for college at the Cambridge 

high school and at Phillips-Exeter Academy, Greene entered 

Harvard, receiving the B.A. degree in 1862. He entered the 

business of breach-loading rifle manufacture in Massachusetts, 

and in February of 1~64 became clerk ot the Quartermaster's 

Dept. at Readville, Mass. He was commissioned 1st Lieut. in 

the U.S. Colored Troops, and served as regimental quartermaster 

before Richmond, Va., and in Texas, until 1866, when he resigned 



and entered the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 

graduating with the degree of B.S. in Civil Engineering in 

1868. 

After his graduation, he engaged in professional rail­

road and river and harbor improvement work in Maine and New 

Hampshire, and was city engineer of Bangor, Maine: he carried 

on a general practice until 1872, when he was appOinted 

Professor of Civil Engineering at Michigan. He was 'given an 

honorary Civil Engineer degree here in 1884. 

Greene, as a teacher and administrator in addition to an 

extensive consulting practice, was only one of many members of 

the engineering faculty who have added lustre to the reputation 

of the department by the manner in which they have acquitted 

themselves in professional practice. A theoretical or academic 

knowledge of engineering, no matter how thorough, has rarely 

been Justification tor adding an engineer to the staff here. 

It has been believed by those who have had in charge the forming 

of policy for the engineering college that the best teachers 

of engineering are those who are also the best engineers. 



That this has been a wise policy is evidenced by the st~a~y 

growth of the college from its inception, and by the esteem 

in which its graduates are held by employers throughout the 

country. No small part of the opinion of the engineering 

college is based upon the high regard felt for the members 

of its faculty as outstanding professional engineers. 

Greene gave the appearance of being cold, even austere. 

He was a strict disciplinarian, perhaps as a result of his 

army experience during the Civil War. His classroom stan­

dards were high, his rigorous mental processes stimulating. 

To those who neglected their work, Greene seemed severe; 

to those who showed interest and ability he gave an approval 

which was highly valued because it was neither grudging nor 

effusive. The personality of the real man was not evident 

in the classroom. Outside it, he escaped from his apparent 

shell of austerity, and was genial, reminiscent, and cordial. 

He possessed a delightful sense of humor which he reserved 

for his more intimate friends. 



Greene was much interested in his outstanding students, 

and in the future of engineering education. He directed several 

students, notably, R.L. Sackett (B.S.(C.E. 91), C.E. '96), Dean 

Emeritus of the Engineering School of Penna. State College, 

into the educational field. He was impatient with stupidity, 

and quick to appreciate exceptional ability of any kind. 

Under Greene's leadership, the engineering college en­

rollment and faculty began the steady climb whioh has marked 

most of its history. ~en he came to the University in 1872 

there were 62 students in engineering; in 1875 there were 69 

students but due to general national oonditions the enrollment 

began to drop, and in 19S1 there were only 25 students; the climb 

started again in l8g2. When the engineering college was separated 

from the literary oollege in 1995, and Greene became Dean, there 

were 319 engineering students; when he died in 1903, there were 

The oauses of this growth of the engineering oollege are 

not difficult to understand. The year 1870 marked a boundary 

between two quite distinct periods of development in engineering 



education. The earlier or formative stage had been led by the 

creation of new and distinctive schools and programs; its 

dominating personalities were more often scientists and pub­

licists than engineers; its chief aim had been the training of 

civil engineers to meet the problems of an era of rapid geographi­

cal population and of growth in urban population. After 1870 

came the period of expansion and ramification based on the 

established curricula. Engineers of distinction took an increas­

ing leadership in education; an American literature of engineering 

began to develop through the authorship of leading professors; 

the engineering profession took on solidarity and began to 

influence the scheme of education; and the extraordinary expansion 

of industry created a wide field for mining, metallurgical and 

mechanical engineers. This period also saw the development 

of laboratory teaching, a field where American leadership has 

been especially marked. The early courses in mechanical engineer­

ing were concerned largely with the design of machinery and with 

the technology of the workship. The problem of power production 

and application on a large scale did not begin to assume a major 



importance until the eighties. Shops rather than the laboratory 

were the seat of the early efforts at practical instruction. 

The early emphasis on shopwork was typical of the urge which 

the schools felt to make their training as practical as possible, 

as was the tendency of engineering teachers to demonstrate 

their competency by undertaking collateral practice. The opening 

up of the fields of electrical and chemical engineering led 

towards the development of engineering education into a 

scientific function, with emphasis upon'the scientific spirit 

and original researoh which have marked the field in later years. 

As early as IS64-65 a course in mining engineering leading 

to the degree of Mining Engineer was announced, and this degree 

was conferred t.rom IS67 to lS70 although no legislative action 

providing for a school of mines was taken until IS75-76, when an 

appropriation was made for a professor of minlng engineering, a 

professor of metallurgy, and a professor of architecture and 

design, with necessary assistant instructors. Unfortunately the 

legislature neglected to continue the appropriation at the expira­



tion of the biennial period, and the professors of mining 

engineering and architecture resigned or were given other 

apPointments. 

William Henry Pettee (B.A., Harvard, 1961) was appointed 

Professor of Mining Engineering; Silas Hamilton Douglas (Hon. 

M.A., Vermont, 1947), was Professor of Metallurgy and Chemical 

Technology(1875-77); and William LeBaron Jenney (C.E., Ecole 

Centrale des Arts et Manufactures, Paris, 1956), an architect 

in Chicago, was apPOinted Professor of Architectur~ and Design 

in 1876. In 1878, owing to the failure of the Legislature to 

renew the appropriation, the school of architecture and design 

came to an early death. Jenney asked for and received a leave 

of absence for two years, and returned to private practice as an 

architect in Chicago at the expiration of his leave. No degrees 

were given in Architecture until 1909, after the department was 

reestablished. Pettee resinged the chair of mining engineering 

and was appOinted Professor of Mineralogy and Economic Geology, 

in charge of Mining Engineering. Douglas continued as Direotor 



of the Chemical Laboratory until his retirement in 1977. In 

spite o:f' the lack of funds, the University made every effort 

to keep the schools of mining and architecture going; pro­

fessors i'n,other departments volunteered to teach these subJects. 

It seems unfortunate that the University was obliged 

eventually to drop its plans for a School of Mines. The es­

tablishment of one was called for in the Legislature by members 

from the Upper Peninsula, and a joint committee of the Senate 

and Legislature visited the University, reporting that we were 

already giving instruction in many branches pertinent to mining 

engineering, and that a School of Mines could be organized more 

economically here than elsewhere. When the professorship was 

established, purchase was made of furnaces, stamp mill, crUSher, 

ores, furnace products, etc. One of the major gifts to be made 

to the University during its early years was the model of the 

stamp mill shown by the Calumet and Hecla Mining Company at the 

Centennial Exhibition at Philadelphia, and presented to the 

School of Mines at the conclusion of the Exhibition. The model 

cost at least twelve thousand dollars to build, and had the 



, \ 
L.\ 

largest ya1ue of any gift made up to that time by any individual 

or private corporation. Gifts of ores and other materials were 

made. Facilities were developed for instruction in assaying in 

the metallurgical laboratory. A study of the sttuation by 

Professor Pettee led him to recommend the establishmen of 

summer schools devoted to field instruction at such places as 

Marquette, Ishpeming, or Houghton - different places in 

different years - where time could be spent in visiting 

mines, mills, furnaces, and in securing and arranging specimens. 

It was felt this would more than offset the distance of the 

University from mining regions, and the plan would have developed 

in a fashion somewhat similar to the engineering camp in sur­

veying. 

Degrees in Mining Engineering were given from lS67 to lS70, 

from lS7S to lSgO, and from lSg6 to lS96. The latter years 

closely paralleled the development of the' Michigan Mining School 

at Houghton, established by the Legislature May 1, lSg5. 

Surveying and Civil Engineering were, of course, the parents 

of the present Engineering College, and instruction has been given 



in these departments oontinuously sinoe lS53-54. The first 

degrees in Civil Engineering were oonferred in ls60. The 

present-day Civil Engineering Department has several main 

divisions, inoluding struotural, hydraulio, transportation, 

sanitary, municipal, and publio health engineering. There is 

a Highway Laboratory for the testing of highway materials, 

provided through a oooperative arrangement with the State 

Highway Department. The department also has a Transportation 

Library containing one of the most valuable oolleotions of 

transportation literature in the oountry. The first degree in 

Transportation Engineering was given in 1932. 

Surveying, whioh oonstitu~d a large part of the first 

engineering instruction at Miohigan, has, like Civil Engineering, 

been taught oontinuously from the beginning. The Department of 

Geodesy and Surveying became a professional department offering 

a degree in 1921; the first degree was oonferred in 1923. The 

department, like that of oivl engineering, Was underthe super­

vision of Winchell, Peck, Wood, and Greene; upon Greene's death, 

Joseph Baker Davis had oharge. 

Joseph Baker Davis was the first engineering graduate of the 



Un1vers1ty to return and to stay on 1ts faculty. He was a 

student here from Is6~ to IS6S, when he was graduated as a 

C1v1l Eng1neer. Dur1ng h1s undergraduate days he earned 

h1s way, and roomed w1th J. B. Steere, who afterwards became 

a celebrated natural1st and a great teacher 1n the Un1vers1ty. 

Dav1s' mother d1ed when he was a few months old; he was 

ra1sed by a ma1den cous1n of h1s grandfat'e~. She was a member 

of the Soc1ety of Fr1ends; her steadfast Quaker 1nfluence re­

ma1ned w1th Dav1s throughout h1s 11fe. Vur1ng his ch1ldhood 

and youth he endured many pr1vat10ns; 1n manhood he was possessed 

of great character, marked by strong common sense. He was un­

pretent10us, strong, good-natured, hearty 1n his bearing, loyal 

to his Univers1ty and to his friends. 

Upon f1n1sh1ng college, Dav1s worked as an eng1neer for 

two years, spending the second semester ot lS69-70 as Instructor 

under his beloved Professor, DeVolson Wood. In IS71 he went to 

Swarthmore, Pennsylvan1a, where he organized the C1v11 Eng1neer1ng 

Department in Friends', now Swarthmore, College. He returned 
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to Michigan in the fall of 1972 after Wood had gone on to 

Stevens Institute, and began his long association with the 

engineering college as a member of its faculty for thirty-

seven years. Davis, like Greene, maintained an enviable 

record as a successful consulting engineer as well as in the 

field of teaching. He was, among other things, City Engineer 

of Ann Arbor for sixteen years. 

When Gr~ene died in 1903, and Cooley was asked to serve 

as Dean, he agreed to do so only if he could have'the advice 

and assistance of Davis as Associate Dean. This Davis agreed 

to, and he served as the first Associate Dean of the College 

until he<retired' in 1910. No better choice for Associate Dean 

could ever have been made. He was possessed of a great 

character, marked by strong common sense. He was unpretentious 

strong, good-natured, h~arty in his bearing, loyal to his 

University and to his friends. ~~is new duties brought him 

into direct contact with every student of the college. Every 

engineer who was at the University during the first decade of 

this century will remember the gruff but kindly voice of this 



kindly advisor. His natural sympathy for students Rho suffered 

privations made it impossible for him to forget them or their 

hardships night or day. Because he gave of himself so un­

selfishly, and the demands made upon him were so great, he 

was unable to continue his work after 1910. 

As early as 1874 Davis, at that time an instructor, 

organited a camp for field work in surveying. This was the 

pioneer surveying camp for field work in this country. It 

was first organized at Whitmore Lake, when it was a four 

weeks' course. The camp was moved from place to place each 

year, depending on arrangements which Prof. Davis was able 

to make for use of land, transportation, and housing facilities. 

In 1882 the camp was established at Old Mission; from that time 

until 1929 it was always located in the northern part of the 

Southern Peninsula of Michigan. It was a four weeks' course 

until 1902 when it was extended to six weeks; in 1909 it wa 

extended to eight weeks. 

In the summer of 1908, through the efforts of Professor 

Davis and in part by gift from Colonel and Mrs. Charles Bogardus 

of Pellston, the University acquired 1500 acres of land on 



Douglas Lake, thus giving the camp a permanent home. It 

was named Camp Davis, and has always been conducted in con­

formity with the rules and regulations that its founder 

developed and adopted after many years of experience. In 

February, 1929, the University acquired a new site located 

at Jackson's Hole, Wyoming, 75 miles south of Yellowstone Park. 

The camp has permanent buildings, including residences, 

dining room, kitchen, keeper's residence, instrument room, 

shop, and garage. The course is for eight weeks of five 

and one-half days each week, and provides eight hours of 

credit in surveying. The cost to each student is about $150 

for the summer, including tuition, board, and transportation. 

In le6s a course was established leading to the degree 

of Mechanical Engineer, but the degree was abolished in le70, 

and none was conferred until lSg3, after the department was 

re-established in lSgl. Stillman Williams Robinson (C.E., le63) 

who was Assistant in Civil Engineering (IS66-67) and Assistant 

Professor of Mining Eng1neering and Geodesy (le67-70), gave 
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the first instruction in mechanical engineering. He resigned 

in 1870 to accept the chair of Mechanical Engineering at 

Industrial University of Illinois and was later Professor 

of Mechanical Engineering at Ohio State University. 

The Mechanical Engineering Department today provides 

instruction in steam-power; internal combustionj hydro-

mechanical;heating, ventilating, and refrigerating; auto-

mobile;.and industrial engineering l and in machine design. 

IJllderc:'1ts supervision are the Mechanical Engineering and the 

Automotive and Internal Combustion Engine laboratories, which 

include all the equipment used for the illustration of the 

theory involved in mechanical enginerring and for experimental 

work of both standard and research variety. As a resul t of 

the automotive indu8try~s generosity, there is a permanent 

exhibit open to the public of typical examples of automotive 

equipment, from complete chassis down to the smallest parts. 

When Mortimer E. Cooley (ASSistant Engineer 1 U.S.N.A., 1978) 

l, reached the campus in lS81, he had been detailed by the U.S. Navy 

under the Act of Congress in 1879, "as Professor of Steam 



Engineering and Iron Ship Building." While he lectured in 

naval architecture during the eighties, his real work proved 
~ 

to be in mechanical engineering, and he was designated Professor 

of Mechanical Engineering immediately on his arrival. The first 

engineering building was on the southeast corner of the campus. 

It was built from plans drawn up by Professor Davis, under 
r' 

Cooley1s supervision. The structure cost $1500, with machinery 

and tools supplied for another $1000; it was frame, sheathed 

inside and out with brick on edge and nailed at the JOints to 
Regents .."
lSSl (pp. 76, 137,164) 

" 

the studs, and was 24 x 36 feet in size. The foundry, fo~ge 

shop, and engine-room were on the ground floor; the pattern 

shop and machine shop were on the" second floor. The building 

was opened for classes in February, lSS2, and continued in use 

until lSS7-SS. In lSS3 an abandoned carpenter shop was moved 

up to the west side of the original building and used for wood­

Regents, lSS3 (pp. 376, 453)
working. 

Cooley was one of five members of the engineering faculty, 

the others being Greene, Denison, Davis, and Pettee. Cooley 

was, at that time, the only Mechanical Engineer in the State 

of M.chigan. He taught blacksmithing, machine shop, and pattern 



and metal, not for the purpose of tra1n1ng h1m to become a 

mechan1c, but so that he would understand the mechan1cal 

processes 1nvolved 1n execut1ng h1s plans. The more recent 

development has tended to elim1nate manual dexterity, and to 

subst1tute such act1v1t1es as the compound1ng of alloys. 

As soon as the f1rst l1ttle Eng1neer1ng Laboratory had 

been completed 1n lSgl-g2, 1t was overcrowded. This has been 

the fate of all build1ngs of the eng1neer1ng college up to 

the present t1me. In 1992 1t was reported to the Regents that 

"1t was not poss1ble for the Professor alone and 1n h1s narrow 

quarters to g1ve 1nstruct10n to all who desired 1t. The 

util1ty of actual work w1th tools and mach1nes to engineers 

1s now recogn1zed 1n lead1ng schools on both s1des of the 

Atlant1c. It 1s to be hoped that means may be placed at our 

d1sposal for enlarg1ng the equipment of the laboratory and 

for prov1d1ng a su1table ass1stant for the Professor." He 

got the ass1stant. 

By 1995-g6 a new Laboratory was called for. The f1rst 



unit of the permanent brick building which still stands, 

called the "Automotive Laboratory," was built on the east 

side of the original laboratory, and connected by a passageway 

at the second floor level. The new laboratory had three 

stories and an attic. Within two years it was necessary to 

enlarge it; the enlargement necessitated the removal of the 

first little laboratory built in 1991-g2. The completed 

building consisted of the original east building, the oentral 

part and tower, and a west wing one-story foundry and forge 

shop: the building contained offices, class rooms, drawing 

rooms, and laboratories for testing machines, steam engines, 

watermotors, and strength of materials. The tower held a 

water tank of IOU barrels capacity for hydraulic work and a 

30-ft. glass tube mercury column for standardizing gauges. 

In lS90, the Dental College removed to the Old University 

Hospital, and the Den~al Building which they had occupied was 

turned over to engineering classes. The oldest part of 



/'

'{} :. ;::-. 
) 

this building had originally been a professor's residence, 

built in lS41; Professor Frieze had been its last oocupant. 

It had been equipped for the Dental School in lS77, and an 

east wing was added the next year. In 1991 it was Bnlarged 

toward the north and a third story was added; the entrance 

was changed to the west side of the new part, and the word 

"Engineering II was placed over the doorway. There were 15 class­

rooms and several offices in this building, which continued in 

use until 1923, when it was removed to make room for the 

Clements Library. This New Engineering Building was called 

the Old Engineering Building after 1904. 

Equipment for these various laboratories had been 

acquired by purchase whenever possible, but much of the equip­

ment for these various laboratories came as gifts from tool 

and machine manufacturers, who furnished the laboratories with 

some of the finest products of their shops. 

Because of the tremendous interest in the laboratories, 

the question arose during the eighties concerning the desira­
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bility of establishing a manual-training school in which a 

a 
young man could learn to be/skilled mechanic. It was 

decided that the wisest plan would be to limit the mechanical 

equipment and instruction to the needs of students in civil, 

mining and mechanical engineering; not only because the work 

at the University of Michigan was supposed to lead to an 

academic degree upon the conclusion of a professional training, 

but because funds for even the equipment necessary fOD this 

purpose were difficult to obtain. 

Just before the New Engineering Building (old Dental 

Building) was acquired in 1991, the Department of Electrical 

Engineering came into being, in 1999. It was under the 

supervision of Henry S. Carhart, Professor of Physics, with 

George W. Patterson as Instructor in Electrical Engineering. 

The first degree was conferred in 1990. In May, 1905, 

George W. Patterson became the first Professor of Electrical 

Engineering, and was head of the Department from 190~ to 1914; 

he also served as Assistant Dean after 1922. The Department 

has grown with the development of public utilities and the 



oorresponding use of electrioity until it now offers 

instruction in electrical power engineering, electrical 

co~~unication, illumination engineering, eleotrical engineering 

design, electrical theory and laboratory technique, and in­

dustrial electrical engineering. The department maintains 

laboratories devoted to the study of dynamos, communication, 

photometrics, electronics and high voltage, eleotrical stan­

dards, and heat transfer. The steam-power plant of the 

University is used for instructional purposes, and the Detroit 

Edison Company has made available its hydraulic and steam-

power plants tor technical inspection trips and study. 

BY. 1~90, when the engineers moved into their own building, 

one hundred and sixty students were in the eng1neering department, 

taking civil mining, mechanical, electriCal and sanitary 

engineering. That year twenty bachelor's degrees in engineering 

were granted, and two graduate degrees. In 1~93 a return was 

made to French or German or Latin tor the admission ot 

engineering students and it became a requirement in lS95. 



Thess had been e11m1nated early 1n the h1story of eng1neering 

at M1ch1gan "because 1n our sect10n of the country formany 

years a cons1derable number of men of mature years, who had 

grown up 1n off1ces of engineers w1thout much opportun1ty 

for tra1n1ng 1n languages, came here to prepare themselves 

for eng1neer1ng work." 

"under the stimulus g1ven 1n recent years to eng1neer1ng study, 

espec1ally to the preparat10n for mechan1cal and electr1cal 

eng1neer1ng, by far the larger number of matr1culants 1n these 

courses are young men prepared 1n our h1gh schools where the 

languages are well taught. A good knowledge of French and 

German 1s so helpful to the accompl1shed eng1neer of our t1me 

that 1t 1s w1se to encourage the students to set a good read1ng 

knowledge of these tongues early 1n h1s course." The requ1re­

ment of a fore1gn language and spec1al train1ng 1n Engl1sh 

led to the establ1shement ot separate departments of Engl1sh, 

and of Modern Languages for eng1neer1ng students. Mathemat1cs 

courses espec1ally for eng1neers had been g1ven 'from the beg1nn1ng. 



In lS95 there were 319 students enrolled in engineering. 

In April of that year it was "Resolved that a School of 

Technology be organized, comprising the Departments of Civil, 

Mechanical and Electrical Engineering, and that Professor 
n 

Charles E. Greene be appointed Dean.' A committee of 

Professo s Greene, Cooley, and Carhart was appointed to 

make, with the assistance of the President, a detailed plan 

for the organization of the new school. Strangely enough, 

two members of the committee, Greene and. Cooley, were reluc­

tant even to concur in the separation of the Department of 

Engineering from the Department of Literature, Science and 

the Arts, believing that the engineers' education should be 

as brad as possible, and that in separation the tendency 

would be to narrow it. Until later departments of engineering 

were added, there was room in the curricula of engineering 

for literary studies. These, both Professor Greene and 

Professor Cooley believed, were highly important in the 

training of the engineer in that they better fitted him to 

cope with the problems of life.as a oitizen as well as an 

engineer. While engineering studies alone suffioed tor the 
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solution of problems bE~sed on the physical sC-iences, some­

thing more was needed to insure the best success of the 

engineer in his contaot with his fellow man. Professor 

Greene's policy was the preparation of young men for the 

engineer's profession who would be not only a oredit to 

the profession, but who would also play an important role 

as citizens. 

However, rules for the government of the new Department 

of Engineering were formulated and adopted. The rules, in 

brief, were that the faculty would be oomposed of all above 

the grade of Assistant who taught engineering students; the 

government of the department would be invested in the faculty, 

which would hold general meetings:a13 directed by itself, by the 

President, or the Dean, or called for by two Professors in 

the Department; the faculty would elect one of their own 

members as Seoretary to keep the records of the prooeedings; 

the recordsof studies elected and pursued by students, together 

with their grades, would be kept by the Registrar of the 

Literary Department; admission of students would be handled 



by the Dean; cand1dates for graduat10n would be recommended 

by the faculty, and the requ1rements for graduat10n would be 

unchanged; students could take studies in departments other 

than the Literary Department only by permiss10n of the Dean. 

The place of the Department of Eng1neering 1n the annual 

calendar and on public academic occas10ns was designated as 

immediately after the Department of Literabure, Sc1ence, and 

the Arts. Dr. Angell sa1d that for so many years the 

eng1neers had been so closely associated with the literaries, 

1t should continue to be so. 

And so the Department of Eng1neering became a separate 

college, w1th 1ts own adm1n1stration, 1n lS95. Concern1ng 

the desirability of this new school the Pres1dent sa1d 1n 

his report of that year, "Although we have taught engineering 

for more than forty years, many persons in M1ch1gan have been 

unaware that we have engineer1ngaour.&eB pursued by hundreds 

of students. Th1s s1ngular 19norance of what we are d01ng 

seems to be due 1n some degree to the fact that the engineering 

students have always been catalogued w1th the students of the 



Literary Department. The establishment of a separate Depart­

ment of Engineering••••••• should certainly attract the atten­

tion of our citizens, too many of whom have supposed that they 

must send their sons out of the state to be trained as 6ivil, 

Mechanical, or Electrical Engineers. (Regents, lS95. P. 506) 

During the firwt years of its history as a separate school, 

the affairs of the College of Engineering were administered 

in much the same fashion as when it had been a part of the 

Literary College. For many years things having to do with 

engineering had b een left up to the engineering faculty. ·J.'he 

first meeting of the faculty of the new Department of Engineering 

was held October 3, lS95, with Dean Greene presiding. Faculty 

meetings were held each week during the school year for several 

years; a secretary was apPointed for each meeting. 

Fr~~ing and administering requirements for admission and 

graduation were relatively simple. Beginning with 1995 

the admission of engineering students was handled by the Dean 

himself. Incoming students were given a serial number, which 



appeared on all records. This number was pls,ced on the 

record card, and a folder containing his credentials, cor­

respondence, and other information cOllected during his 

residence in col~ge was likewise so numbered. A card 

index, alphabetically arranged, conta'ins this number. The 

serial numbers assigned to engineering students continue 

progressively every ~ear thereafter; by 1940 the number 

21,148 was reaohed. Information on any person who has been 

admitted to the College of Engineering since 1895 can be 

found at a glance. 

As long as the department of engineering was a part of 

the literary college, the records were handled by facilities 

provided for by the literary college. After the separation, 

the same procedure was followed until 1901, when the first 

permanent secretary of the faculty, Herbert J. Goulding 

(B.S. '93), Instructor in Descriptive Geometry and Drawing, 

was appointed Secretary at an additional salary of '200 a 

year. Professor Goulding resigned in 1906, and was replaced 



by James Pyper Bird (A.B. 1893), Instructor in French and 

Spanish to Engineering Students, who served until 1915. 

The records and office of the Secretary were established in 

1903-03 in a suite of rooms on the first floor of the Engineer­

ing Building which had been the former Dental Building. On 

February 1, 1907, Camilla B. Green, now Assistant Secretary 

of the College of Engineering, started to work in the Secretary's 

Office, where she has been employed continuously since. 

Because of the sequence of courses and prerequisites in 

programs of engineering students, the Faculty has always closely 

supervised the election of studies, and classification committees 

were established at an early date. A semester classification 

card was designed by Professor Goulding which showed the 

student's name, subjects, and credit hours, followed by hours 

of recitation, lectures or laboratory work for each day of 

the week, also the room where the classes were held, and the 

name of the instructor~ This classification card proved so 
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satisfactory that only a few minor changes have been made in 

it since its inception in 1903, and the type of card has 

been adopted widely by other departments. 

During Professor Greene's administration as Dean, not 

only was the office of the Secretary established, but ti'lO new 

engineering departments were added to the College 1 Marine 

Engineering and Naval Architecture, in 1900 and Chemical 

Engineering in 1901. 

Some instruction in naval architecture had been given 

since 1991, but in 1999 an outline of a proposed course, 

patterned after the oourse given at the University of Glasgow, 

was presented to the Regents, and in 1599 an appropriation was 

requested and made for establishing such a course. In 1900 

Herbert C. Sadler (B.S., Glasgow) was apPointed Junior Professor 

of Naval Arthictecture, and in 1901 a curriculum was established 

leading to a degree in Marine Engineering. Professor Sadler 

became the third Dean of the College of Engineering (1925-37) 

and since 1939 has been Dean Emeritus of the College of 

Engineering and Professor Emeritus of Naval Architecture and 



Marine Engineering. (From 1937 to 1939 he held the Alexander 

Naval Architecture and 
Ziwet Professorship.) The Department of~arine Engineering 

and construction of ships 
trains men in connection with the design/of machinery for ships, 

and also those who wish to enter the field of water transporta­

tion. The fir-st degree was conferred in 1902. The Naval Tank, 

built in the West Engineering Building in 190~, was the first 

in this country, and provides for testing of models. Equipment 

is also available for studies relating to ship resistance, 

shallow-water effects, streamline flow, wave profiles, wake, 

and rolling, as well as a model room and workshop for making 

models of vessels. 

The first degree in Chemical Engineering was conferred in 

1901. In 1902 Edward D. -Campbell was made Professor of 

Chemical Engineering and Analytical Chemistry, and in 1905 

Director of the Chemical Laboratory. When the new Chemistry 

Building was completed in 1909, a large portion of it was devoted 

chemical engineering instruction. The present Department 

occupies 160,000 square feet of space in East Engineering Building, 
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and maintains five specialized laboratories. The General 

Chemical Engineering Laboratory provides facilities for 

unit operations in fluid flow, heat transfer, evaporation, 

distillation, absorption and extraction, humidifying, de­

humidifying, water cooling, air conditioning, drying, refrig­

eration and evaporative cooling, filtration, and crystalliza­

tion; the Metallurgical Engineering Laboratorfes, facilities 

for melting and heat-treating, metallographic projects, and 

physical properties, pyrometry, and X-ray.. The Gas, Fuel, 

and 6ombustion Laboratories include equipment for research 

in gas and fuel, combustion, furnace materials, and gas 

engineering. The Petroleum Laboratories provide facilities 

for cracking-research, engine testing of motor fuels. The 

Technology Laboratories include facilities for study and 

research on ceramics, electrochemical work, precision testa 

of physiochemical properties, paint and varinsh problems, 

and pulp and paper problems. In addition to these epecial 

laboratories, two general laboratortes are available for 



ordinary chemical engineering proJects, and graduate students 

are assigned individual laboratories in which to carryon 

their own experiments. 

The Departmen~ of Chemical and Metallurgical Engineering 

has grown rapidly from its inception, and is now one of the 

outstanding departments in the country, with a reputation 

second to none in its field. Graduates of this department 

are in demand throughout the nation, and more graduate work 

is done by students in this department than in any other 

engineering department. The first degree in Metallurg1cal 

Engineering was conferred in 1936. 

In 1902 there were 609 students in the engineering 

college. In October of that year the cornerstone of the New 

(now West) Engineering Building was laid. The four-storied 

fireproof steel and concrete building, w1th outside walls of 

vitrified paving brick and stone, and a red tile roof, was 

designed to fit the southeast corner of the campus, with an 



arcade (The Denison Arch) for the passage of the diagonal 

walk. The building was equipped with a 300' naval tank ­

the first and enclosed tank and most complete of its kind 

in this country - and the first built by an educational 

institution - (The only other being at the Washington Navy 

Yard) - with mechanical and steam laboratories, hydraulic 

laboratory, electrical and physical testing laboratories and 

a mold loft, and was completed in 1904, and enlarged. in 1910. 

Before West Engineering Building was completed, Dean 

Greene died. He had been the dominating factor in the 

engineering college for more than thirty years, and his going 

left the college, its students and faculty, desolate. A true 

gentleman, Greene had seen to it that the destiny of the en­

gineering college had been one of broad general training, 

fitting men for private as well as professional life. 

Mortimer E. Cooley was appOinted to succed him. Upon 

being given the aid and counsel of Professor Joseph Baker 

Davis as Associate Dean, he accepted the apPOintment. Thus 

the occupation of the first complete Engineering Building 



coinciaed with a new admin1strat1on of the college, one 

which, in its deanship, continued for twenty-four years. 

Even the new building was full to overflow1ng(with S2S 

students)upon completion. It had been planned for 600 students. 

The building was enlarged in 1909-bO. No new buildine; wa~ 

provided for until 1923, when East Engineering Building wa~· 

completed; in 1922 the old Tappan School Building was acquired 

and: renamed East Hall. This building 1s used for classes in 

non-technical subjects. East Engineering Building houses 

the Chemical and Metallurgical Department, the Department of 

Metal Processing (formerly Engineering Shops), the Department 

of Engineering Research, the Division of Transportation 

Engineer1ng, the State Highway Laborator1es, the Department 

of Aeronaut1cal Eng1neer1ng 1nclud1ng the w1nd tunnels, 

the East Eng1neer1ng L1brary for these departments, and the 

Transportat1on L1brary containing 1DO,000 U1l:lIlI1IlK 1tems 

deal1ng w1th every phase of transportat1on. 

In addit10n to East Hall and East Eng1neer1ng Bu1ld1ng, 

the College of Eng1neer1ng is housed 1n West Eng1neer1ng 



Building and West Engineering Annex (old shop buildings), which 

provides additional space for Mechanical Engineering (automotive 

engineering), Engineering Mechanics, and Geodesy and Surveying. 

The West Engineering Building houses the departments of Civil, 

Mechanical, Electrical, and Marlne Engineering, Geodesy and 

Surveying, Mechanism and Engineering Drawing, Engineering 

Mechanics, and Mathematics, as well as the administrative 

and secretarial offices and the general Engineering Library 

of 20,000 volumes dea11ng with engineering, 



transferred from the general library to the new buil~ng in 

1904. 

The Department of Engineering Mechanics was 

established in 1911. Before that time, instruction in 

applied mechanics had been given by the Department of 

Civil Engineering. This department provides instruction in 

the subject which, perhaps more than any other, tests the 

student's ability to use the technical training given him 

in his other courses, at the same time preparing him tor 

additional work. Work in this department is required of all 

engineering students, although a course has been established 

leading to a degree in Engineering Mechanics; the first degree 

was conferred in 1931. The Physical Testing Laboratory 

of this Department is equipped for the study ot the action 

of forces on materials. 

In 1916 the first aeronautical engineering course 

offered in the United States was established at the University 

of Michigan. The course had a forerunner in the University 

Aero Club, founded by Professor Herbert C. Sadler about 1910. 

: 
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Professor Sadler constructed a wind tunnel for the club, an~ 

its members constructed a bi-plane glider during 1911-12. In 1913 

Felix W. Pawlowski, of Waraaw , a practicing mechanical engineer in 

Chicago, trained in Germany (graduated 1996) , was in this country. 

He had taken instruction at the first flying school in the world, 

that maintained by Prof. L. Marchis in Paris in 1909. Pawlowski, 

who was practicing as a mechanical engineer in Ch1cago, decided 

to write a number of universities and offered h1s services to a 

number of them in establishing a course in aeronautical engineering. 

Some of the schools never replied; only two took it seriously. One 

was the Massachusetts Institute of Techno~ogy, which 1ndicated it 

might be interested in the future but not at the presentj the other 

was the University of Michigan. ~he Dean of the Engineering 

College Wired Pawlowsk1 to come to Ann Arbor and talk 1t over. 

As a result of that interview, Pawlowski came to the University 

as instructor in meehaniGal eng1neering iU February 191~j he 

leotured 1nformally on aeronautical subjects until 1916, when 

the Department of Aeronautical Engineering was established. 

The first degree was granted in 1917. The Department ma1ntains 
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two laboratories, one devoted to aerodynamios, the other to 

struotures. The aerodynamio laboratory oonsists of two wind-

tunnels, the larger an open-throat, double-return type with a 

Wind velocity maximum of 100 miles per hour; the other a 

olosed-throat, single-return type wind tunnel, with a maximum 

wind velooity of 60 miles per hour. 

In 1920, the Department of Engineering Researoh 

was established. It affords an official channel through which 

the research faoilities of the University in engineering and 

related fields of work are made available to the civic and 

industrial interests of the State and elsewhere. No work 

is offered students for credit, but many of the researoh projects 

which come to the Department afford an opportunity for students 

to work as assistants. The funotion of the department is largely 

administrative. The technical direction of researches sponsored 

through it is generally assigned to members of the faoulty who 

give students opportunities to work as assistants and most of the 

work 1s done in the laboratDries of the instructional departments 

w1th wh10h they are associated. From 1ts 1noept1on this 

-Department has been under the direct10n of Professor Albert E. White; 



1nolud1ng the d1reotor, the Department 1n 1940 ma1ntains a 

full-t1me researoh staff of fourteen persons. 

Mathemat10s oourses des1gned espec1ally for 

eng1neer1ng students needs have been taught at M10h1gan almost 

from the beg1n1ng. The requ1red work 1s praot1cally the 

same for all students of eng1neer1ng, and extends throughout 

the f1rst two years. The courses are des1gned not only to 

1mpart mathematlcal knowledge needed tor the study of various 

branches of englneerlng, but also to train the mind ln 

methods of precise reasonlng, aocustom1ng the student to the 

proper applloat10n of general prlnclples to partleular eases. 

A curriculum for a degree of Bachelor ot Solence ln Englneer1ng 

(Mathematlos) has been estab11shed; the f1rst degree was oon­

ferred ln 1929. This course ls not accredited with the 

Englneers' Counoil for Professional Development s1noe 1t 

leads to flelds other than englneer1ng. 

A ourriculum ln astronomy, with two years' work 

ln any department of englneering, leading to the degree ot 

Bachelor of Sclence ln Engineering (Astronomy) ls somewhat 

; 
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slmllar ln status to that for Mathematlos; the flrst degree 

was oonferred ln1939. A slmllar ourrioulum ln physlos was 

establlshed at the same time as that for mathematlos and 

astronomy, ln 1925. The flrst degree ln Physlcs was conferred 

in 1931, and a total of 55 degrees had been granted by 1940. 

The ldea of establlshing englneerlng as a flve-year 

professlonal course at Mlohlgan was first bfoaohed by Wood ln 

lSSS. President Angell wrote, ln his report of 1906, "The 

Englneerlng Department has been buslly engaged ln revlslng lts 

course of study and gettlng falrly settled ln lts new bullding••• 

The work lald out makes most strenuous demands upon the students, 

and oalls for one perlod of six weeks ln the summer vacatlon••• 

The work of tralnlng a modern englneer ls so heavy and so varied 

that lt the prlnolpal sohools Will agree to adopt the plan of a 

flve years' oourse that will probably be expedlent." Slx-year 

speclalized courses were lntroduoed ln 1909, but nothing oame ot 

this. The oourse Was inoreased trom 125 to 140 credit hours 

for all students enterlng after the Fall of 1904. 

The ldea of a longer trainlng perlod has borne fruit 



at Mlohlgan ln the establlshment with several oolleges of 

several comblned currlcula courses leadlng to fields other than 

engineerlng. One of the more important of these ls the comblned 

program wlth Alblon College; under this a student who has been 

in resldence for three years at Alblon College and has completed 

with a good record a course of study including mathematlcs and 

sclences, is admltted to the College of Englneerlng. At the 

concluslon of hls flrst year at Miohlgan, his records are trans­

ferred to Alblon, wherehe recelve. a Bachelor's Degree. After 

one additlonal year ln the College of Englneering, Mlohigan 

confers on hlm the degree ot Bachelor of Science ln Englneering. 

The advantage ot this five-year course lies ln the broader 

general trainlng afforded by the larger number of electlve hours 

allowed the student, impossible in the four-year course. 

Other oomblned currlcula have been establlshed through 

oooperatlon with other oolleges on the oampus, and with lndustry 

throughout the state. One ls the Englneerlng-Buslness Admlnlstratlon 

course, under whloh a student enters the Sohool of Business 

Admlnlstratlon after completing three years ot undergraduate work 

ln engineering. Upon oompletion of his first year ln BusiBesa 



Administration l he reoeives a Baohelor of Soienoe in Engineer1ng 

(Business Administration); upon oompleting h1s seoond year, he 

reoeives a Master of Business Administration. The first degree 

was oonferred in 1936. A sim11ar five-year program leads to the 

Bachelor of Soienoe in Engineering (Forestry-Wood Teohnology), 

and I after five years, the last two in the Sohool of Forestry, to 

the Master of Forestry (Wood Teohnology). No degrees have been 

oonferred in this oourse. The Engineering-Law oombined curriculum 

is a six-year course, especially designed for patent law, public 

servioe l manufaoturing, and oorporation business and operation; 

it inoludes three years in the Engineering College and three years 

in the Law School. At the end of the fourth year, the Engineering 

College oonfers a Baohelor of SCienoe in Eng1neering (Law), and 

at the oonclusion of the sixth year, the Law School oonfers a 

Baohelor of Law degree. ' The first degree was oonferred in 1932. 

F1ve-year cooperat1ve programs with 1ndustry in 

eleotrical l meohanioal, and ohemical engineering, have been 

established. These courses are established only when oooperative 

relations with such industries as are able and willing to offer 



a definite program of graded work of educational value can be 

secured. Students undertake cooperative work during periods ot 

an entire summer or semester. In this cooperative program, the 

first degree in mechanical engineering was in 1926, in chemieal 

in 1928, and in electrical in 1929. 

Almost from the beginning there have been graduate 

students in the engineering college. In the early days these 

were usually graduates from the standard classical colleges who 

took engineering after receiving their l1terary degrees. It was 

not until well in the 20th century, however, that real progress 

was made in graduate work tacilities; since these have been 

developed, the faculty of the engineering college devotea approxi­

mately 20% of its time to graduate instruction in the Horace H. 

Rackham School of Graduate Studiew. Graduate degrees conferred by 

the College of Engineering include Master of Science in Engineering, 

Master ot Science in Public Health Engineering, Doctor or 

Philosophy, Doctor ot SCience, Civil Engineer, Mechanical 

Engineer, Chemical Engineer, Metallurgical Engineer, Naval 

Archi tect, Marine Engineer:', Aeronautical Engineer, Geodetic 

Engineer, and Public Health Engineer. 



Bachelor degrees In englneerlng were, untll 1881, deslg­

nated as Clvll Englneer, Mlnlng Englneer, etc. After 1981 the 

degree became Bachelor of Sclence, wlth the dlploma Indicatlng the 

fleld In whlch the degree w~s taken; 1.e., Bachelor of Solence 

(Meohanlcal Englneerlng). After 1909 the degree became Bachelor 

of Mechanloal Englneerlng, etc. Slnce 1916 the degree has been 

Bachelor of Sclence In Englneerlng (Mechanloal Englneerlng), etc. 

From 1860 to 1940, 10,064 bachelor degrees In englneerlng had 

been conferred. 

Just as the College of Eng1neerlng began as a department 

1n the College of Llterature, Sclence, and the Arts In 1953, 

not becomlng a separate college untll lS95, It, In turn, 

fathered an outstand1ng college of the present day Unlverslty; 

thls was the College of Arohltecture and Deslgn. 

A professorship of architecture was provlded for In 1837, 

but no approprlatlon was made untll 1975-76 for two years. 

Professor Wllllam LeBaron Jenney held thls professorshlp for four 

years, two of whioh were on leave Of absence. And 80 the real 

beg1nnlng or the department dld not take place untll 1903. 



People throughout the state wrote the Regents request1ng 

the estab11shment of a Cha1r of Arch1tecture; 1n 1903 the matter 

was referred to the eng1neering comm1ttee. In 1905 1t was voted 

to estab11sh such a professorsh1p. The M1chigan Chapter of The 

Amer1can Inst1tute of Arch1tects wrote the Regents approv1ng the 

act1on. In 1906 the eng1neer1ng faculty subm1tted a schedule of 

work requ1red for graduat10n 1n arch1tecture and aroh1tectural 

eng1neer1ng, wh1ch the Regents author1zed to be published 1n the 

eng1neer1ng announcement for 1906-07. The reasons for the 

inclus10n of arch1tecture 1n the eng1neer1ng department were 

s1mple enough; as early as 1937 prov1s1on had been made for a 

jo1nt professorship of nc1v1l eng1neering and architecture,· so 

the two were l1nked together from the beg1nn1ng. In add1t1on, the 

eng1neer1ng college had recently moved 1nto 1ts new bu1ld1ng; 

although overcrowded from the beg1nn1ng, room was made for 

arch1tecture. Draw1ng room fac1l1t1es were available. S1nce 

only one professorship was estab11shed, other work Was taught 

by the eng1neer1ng faculty. Em1l Lorch (A.M.~ Harvard, 1903) 

was appo1nted Professor of Architecture by state architects' 



request, effective October 1st, 1906. A Junior professorship 

went begging 	for lack of acceptance, and a professorship was 

established 	which was accepted in 1910 by Percy Ash, (C.E. ) 

Professor and Dean of Architecture at George Washington University. 

The course in architecture grew under the leadership of 

Professor Lorch, and in 1913 the following resolution of the 

faculty of the engineering department was presented to the Regents: 

Resolved, That the Department of Engineering and the 
Regents 	 Department of Architeoture be hereinafter known as the 
1913 	 Department of Engineering and Arohitecture with the 
p. 	 77S present Dean and SecretarY' acting in a similar capacity


for the new organization; and that the staff of the 

Department of Architecture shall hereinafter administer 

the admission and discipline of its students, with full 

control of the curricula in Arohitecture. 


The official 	title of the College of Engineering was settled 

, Regents 
. 1915 in 1915, when the Committee on Nomenclature established the 
p. 	195 

distinotions in use today between department, course, sOhool, 

and college. 

In 1927 the College ot Arch1teoture removed to its own 

quarters in the new Arohiteoture Building. Degrees were granted 

by the College of Engineering trom 1909 to 1913, and after that 

by the Colleges of Engineering and Architecture until 1931, 

when the College of Architecture became completely separate, 
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with its own Dean, administration, student records, and 

organization. During the years between 1909 and 1931, a total 

of 4so degrees were conferred in Architecture. 

A gfoster" chlld of the College of Engineering was the 

School of Forestry. For over thirty years Volney Morgan Spalding 

(B.A. lS73) Professor of Botany, had advocated Forestry to the 

people of Michigan. In 1902 he was Buccessful in providing 

. instruction in Forestry in the Botanical Department; in April, 

1903, the Board of Regents established the Department of Forestry. 

After 1904 instruction was given on the fourth floor of West 

Engineering Building. In 1909 a course of study was proposed 

by the engineering taoulty, leading to the degree ot Bachelor 

of Soienoe in Preparation for Engineering in Forestry at the 

end ot tour years, and for a graduate torestry degree at the end 

of six years; this was a conservation engineering course. It 

was not, however, until 19~3 that a course was adopted, and this 

led to the degree of Bachelor ot Science in Forestry upon the 

completion of 120 hours. The Department of Forestry was never 

under the administration of the College of Engineering. In 



1927 it became the School of Forestry and Conservation, with 


Professor Samuel T. Dana as Dean. Quarters for the new School were 

provided tor in the Natural Science Building. A combined five-year 

course is given which leads to the degree ot Bachelor of Science in 

Engine~ring (Forestry-Wood Technology) at the end of four years, and 

the degree of Master of Forestry (Wood Technology) at the end of 

five years. 

The policy of the engineering college has always been 

to establish courses of instructions, or departments, as the need 

arose. Usually this need grew out of requirements ot the industries 

of the state. Each of the departments which have been added to the 

curricula has filled a very definite lackj thus the College has 

been able to keep pace with the general advancement ot specialized 

instruction. 

There is a common first year for all engineering students. 

After the first year each student chooses the branch of engineering 

he expects to follow, and is then enrolled as a student in that 

branch. When the University Orientation Period for all new students 

ends, the Mentor System of the College ot Engineering begins. The 



Mentor System is a personalized form of solving the problem of 

a freshman's making a proper adjustment to his new environment; it 

is probably the oldest student personnel practice in cont1nuous 

operation in this country, having been established in 1911. Just 

prior to that, the father of a prospective student visited the 

University among several other schools to examine personally the 

conditions surrounding students, particularly freshmen. Be1ng 

requested to report the result of his findings when he returned 

home, he wrote quite freely saying he felt that freshmen, inexper­

ienced as they were, suffered a severe handicap in the larger 

institutions. He had therefore selected for his son a small college 

in the East where students had more intimate contacts with their 

professors. Shortly afterwards our Mentor System was inaugurated, 

and has grown to be an integral part ot the College of Engineering. 

The Engineering College Was the first one on the campus 

in Which the Honor iystem was established; it has been effective 

since 1916. It was started as the result of a petition of the 

student body to the Faculty and has been 1n every way a product ot 

the students themselves. The Faculty never asked for changes nor 



in any way attempted to control or restrain the student committee. 

Under the Honor System is the cardinal principle that it is 

dishonorable for any man to receive credit which is not the result 

of his own efforts. !his is a principle which members of the 

engineering profession must carry through life; it is part of the 

code of an engineer and of a gentleman. It has become a fine tradi­

tion of the students of the Engineering College. 

As in the great majority of engineering schools, the 

control of the curricula, the regulations governing admission and 

graduation, the time schedule, and discipline are vested in the 

faculty of the college. All general educational policies, require­

ments, and rules for students are determined by a majority vote 

of the standing committees and of the faculty. Every voting member 

of the faculty is subject to serve on committees, many of which 

meet frequently and require much of their time. 

Faculty control ends with the adoption of the curriculum 

and time schedule. Having determined the requirement in hours for 

each subject, the choice of subject matter, texts, and methods of 

instruction in each subject is left entirely to the department 
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concerned. Eaoh department is treated as an expert in its own 

line, and this department autonomy is carefully preserved by common 

oonsent. Departments may vary in size, but not in self-sufficienoey. 

In faculty selections, a particular effort is made to see that the 

Chairman of each Department be a man of outstanding reputation in 

his professional field, and that each man in the department is 

assigned to work for which he is particularly titted by temperament, 

ability, and training. Men must be qualified to advise the State as 

well as individuals on their respective fields. 

Prior to 1906, an advisory committee of five was elected 

to undertake the oare of the interests of the Department of 

Engineering in matters pertaining to aPPointments, buildings, rooms, 

stenographers, repairs to buildings, apparatus and equipment, etc. 

In 1906 the Standing Committee was established,consisting ot 

the Dean as Chairman, the acting heads of the various departments, 

the Assistant Dean; this advisory committee continued until 

abolished and replaced with an elected Executive Committee to 

serve as an advisory oOmmittee to the Dean. 



The Standing Committee, consisting of the Dean as Chairman; the 

Assistant Dean, and heads ot the various departments, Which was 

formally established in 1906 to act in an advisory capacity, had its 

beginnings in a committee of heads of departments called together 

to consider plans for West Engineering Building in 1901. In 1936 

at the President's request and by his apPOintment, there was formed 

an Executive Committee tor the College of Engineering, "charged 

al 
with the duties of investigating and formulating education/research 

and instructional policies tor consideration by the faculty and to 

act for the College in matters of budget, promotions, appOintments, 

plant-extenSions, and all other financial affairs·. The Executive 

Committee is distinct from the Standing Committee, and both bodies 

serve to the present time. 

In 1904 the administrative work of the College assumed 

a triparted nature; into that of Dean, Associate or Assistant Dean, 

and SecretarYi this division has continued to the present. The Dean 

assumes the administrative duties having to do with faculty, 

curricula, policy, equipment, budget, and all similar matters 

going before the Regents. Alumni relations are largely left in 



the hands of the Dean. The Associate or Asslstant Dean attends 

to admission of students,,,.and all matters of attendance and discipline. 

The Secretary has long handled alL:..matters pertaining to student 

records once they are admitted, working in close cooperation wlth 

the Classificatlon Committee on all details concerning schedule of 

courses and prlnted announcements concerning courses and curricula. 

The office of Secretary has been held successively by 

Professors Goulding (1901-1906), Bird (1909-1915), Louis Allen 

Hopkins (1915-1933), and Alfred H. Lovell since 1933. Camilla B. 

Green has been Asslstant Secretary since 1915, when she began to 

assume much of the responslbility for the management of the offloe. 

The office of Associate Dean has been held by J. B. Davis, 

who resigned in 1910, when Assistant Professor Wll1iam Henry Butts 

(A.B. '7g, A.M. '7g, Ph.D., Zurich) of the Mathematics Department 

was appOinted Assistant Dean. Assistant Dean Butts had been prin­

cipal of a military school for some years, and was well fltted for 

his work in admlssions and the conduct of the students. His kind 

advice was often supplemented with more substantial assistance, 

slnce the Assistant Dean also had oharge of student loans and 
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scholarships relating particularly to the Engineering Colle_e. 

Butts retired in 1922, and was succeeded by George W. Patterson, III 

(A.B. Yale, B.S., M.I.T., Ph.D. Munich), a member of the faculty 

since 1~~9, and Chairman of Electrical Engineering from 1904 to 1914J 

of Engineering Mechanics from 1915 to 1930. During the leave of 

absence of Dean Cooley in 1927-2S, he served as Acting Dean of the 

Colleges of Engineering and Architecture, and in 1925 became Associate 

Dean of the College of Engineering. On May 22nd, 1930, his death 

ended more than ~O years of distinctive service rendered the 

University as teacher, SCientist, and administrator. In addition 

to the academic degrees written after his name, the title of 

nGentleman and Scholar" might well have been placed. He was 

succeeded by Alfred Henry Lovell (B.S. (E.E.) 199, M.S.E. 114), a 

member of the faculty of the Electrical Engineering Department since 

1910. Professor Lovell has been assistant Dean of the College since 

1930, and, since 1933, has also served as Secretary. 

DeVolson WOOdiS preliminary administration before the 

College of Engineering was established had for its main objective 

to get things under way. He laid the foundation for his successors 



to build on. His main contribution to the department was ~o develop 

the tradition which has held to this day: that engineering students 

must be thoroughly trained, must think for themselves, and must 

develop the personal integrity and high character which throughout 

the years have been a heritage of engineers. During the years 

before Greene became Dean (lS72-1S95) the department added 

mechanical and electrical engineering, tried to establish mining 

and metallurgy, and developed its physical equipment by the con­

struction of laboratories and buildings. Since the College has 

been a separate school, there have been five deans. During these 

forty-five years as a college, four of these deans served whose 

total years as members of the engineering faculty is l5~, an average 

length of teaching service of 3St years. 

The tirst wae Charles Ezra Greene (lS95-1903), a Civ11 

Engineer; he was a member of the faculty tor 31 years. Greene 

contributed the policy of a broad training for engineers; under 

hi~ the College added the departmenta of marine eng1neer1ng and 

naval architecture, and Chemical Engineering; West Engineering 

Building was built. The second was Mortimer E. Cooley, (190~-192S), 

,I : 
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a member ot the eng1neering faculty tor 47 years, a Mechanical 

Engineer trained by the U. S. Naval Academy (lg74-1g7g). Under him 

East Engineering Building was built, East Hall was acquired, the 

departments ot Aeronaut1cal Engineering and Engineering Researoh 

were started; the Mentor System was established, the Honor System 

was instituted. The polioy of seleoting outstanding professional 

men for departmental heads was given the stimulus of being made 

into a tradition; and Tappan's words guided faculty ohoices: "There 

is no safe guide in the apPOintment of professors save in the qual1­

fications of the candidates.· He resigned in 1925 and oeoame Dean 

Emeritus of the Colleges of Engineering and Architecture. 

The third Dean was Herbert Charles Sadler (192S-1937), 

internationally known in the field of naval architecture and 

marine engineering, and a member of the faculty for 37 years; he 

resigned in 1937 and became Dean Emeritus of the College of Engin­

# 
eering, and Professor E~itus of Marine Engineering and Naval 

Arohiteoture. Dean Sadler entered on an administration which 

was overshadowed by the unhappy period ot national depression, 

with its years of ourtailed University funds; his was a heavy load. 
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Until his administration the entire history of the College'had 

been one of constant expansion; under him, while enrollment increased 

from 1600 to 1900, the departmental budgets had to be reduced. 

The fourth Dean was Henry Clay Anderson, (1937-39), B.S., U~ of 

Kentucky) a mechanical engineer, who servxed the University for 3S 

years, having been a teacher in the Mechanical Engineering 'Department 

since 1999 and Chairman of the Department since 1917. Anderson's 

death on October 14th, 1939, was felt as a personal loss by everyone 

connected with the college. His health was such that he should 

never have undertaken the heavy responsibilities which he 

shouldered for so brief a time, and which without doubt greatly 

hastened his death. 

The fifth Dean, Ivan Charles Crawford (B.S. in C.E." 

U. of Colorado., '12; C.E. '15) came to the campus in July, 1940. 

He is the second Civil Engineer to be Dean of the College ot 

Engineering. A graduate of the Army School of the Line, Langres, 

France, 1915, and of the G-l course of the War College, Washington, 

D.C., in 1926, Dean Crawford brings to the college a background 

rich in service in the field of engineering education. Sinoe 1912 



he has been a teacher of civ~l engineering, and served 14 years 

as Dean of the College of Engineering at the University of Idaho, 

and 3 years as Dean of the School of Engineering and Architecture 

at the University of Kansas. During 1933-34 he served as State 

Engineer of the Federal EmBrgency Administration of Public Works 

for the State of Idaho, as did Dean Emeritus Mortimer E. Cooley 

for the State of Michigan (1933-1935). 

Thus the fifth administration of the College of 

Engineering, with its 1940 enrollment ot 2222 students, is 

back in the hands of the branch of the profession which introduced 

engineering instruction at Michigan in the lS50's, that ot Civil 

Engineering. 


